ME COURT

Chief Deputy

CLERK,

CASE NO. 78,376

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLAUSSON P. LEXOW and UNITED STORAGE SYSTEMS, INC., d/b/a THE EXTRA CLOSET OF OCALA, LTD.,

vs.

INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

CERTIFIED QUESTION ELEVENTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 90-3331

> ROBERT PAUL KEELEY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 256609 Ellis, Spencer, Butler and Kisslan Attorneys for Appellants Hollywood Federal Building 1909 Tyler Street P. O. Box 6 Hollywood, Florida 33022 Telephone: (305) 921-2691

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal comes before this Court upon certification from the Eleventh Circuit of the following question arising out of a dispute over a denial of attorney's fees to an insured who obtained a judgment against its insurer:

DOES THE PHRASE "UNDER A POLICY OR CONTRACT" IN FLORIDA STATUTES, SECTION 627.428 (1) SUBSEQUENT LITIGATION TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE INSURED OR THE SUBROGATED INSURER IS ENTITLED TO FUNDS OBTAINED BY THE INSURED FROM A TORTFEASOR THE INSURER HAS PAID THE INSURED ITS POLICY LIMITS, ALTHOUGH THESE FUNDS ARE INSUFFI-CIENT TO COMPENSATE THE INSURED'S LOSS, FOR THE PURPOSE \mathbf{OF} AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES INSURED ACQUIRING A JUDGMENT AGAINST THE INSURER FOR THE FUNDS RECEIVED FROM THE TORTFEASOR? (11th Cir.-4575)

INA insured LEXOW for a fire loss to LEXOW's business involving the ownership and operation of a mini warehouse or consumer storage facility in Ocala, Florida. (R2-64-2). During the course of renovation work to LEXOW's business premises an electrical fire totally destroyed the building and its contents on August 1, 1983. (R2-64-2). INA ultimately paid LEXOW \$430,571.26 for the fire loss and obtained a subrogation receipt(s) from LEXOW. (R1-1-2 through 3; R2-64-2).

On April 29, 1988, INA filed a Complaint in the district court seeking a declaration of its rights under the subrogation receipt(s) and a declaration as to whether INA or LEXOW was entitled to certain settlement funds, held in escrow, that were paid to LEXOW and INA by the insurer for one of the tortfeasors allegedly responsible for the fire loss. (R1-1-1 through 6).

LEXOW answered the Complaint (R1-3-1 through 3), but also filed a motion to dismiss or abate (R1-12) that was denied. (R2-34). Subsequently, pursuant to court order (R1-15), LEXOW filed a counterclaim against INA seeking attorney's fees \$627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). (R1-20). On July 6, 1989, the Honorable William Terrell Hodges conducted a non-jury trial and on July 12, 1989, issued a memorandum opinion finding that LEXOW was entitled to the \$100,000 settlement fund, having suffered damages in excess of monies already received for the fire loss. (R2-64-1 through 9). Judgment was entered on the memorandum opinion on July 12, 1989. (R2-65-1).

Initially, INA filed a notice of appeal from the judgment on the merits; however, that appeal was dismissed by INA on November 13, 1989. (R2-73). The July 12, 1989 judgment is not the subject of this appeal.

LEXOW filed a post-trial motion to tax costs and attorney's fees (R2-66-1 through 3) supported by a memorandum of law contending that case law supported an award of attorney's fees under § 627.428(1). (R2-67-1 through 7). INA filed a memorandum in opposition suggesting the district court was without jurisdiction and the action was in rem, not involving a coverage dispute. (R2-70-1 through 7).

On March 14, 1990, the district court entered an order without oral argument denying LEXOW's motion for attorney's fees, but granting LEXOW's motion for pre-judgment interest. (R2-90-1 through 7).

LEXOW filed a timely notice of appeal from the district

court order denying an award of attorney's fees. (R2-93). INA then timely filed a notice of cross-appeal, appealing the district court's order and judgment awarding pre-judgment interest to LEXOW. (R2-94). Under Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, INA became the appellant before the Eleventh Circuit.

On August 1, 1991, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the award of prejudgment interest, concluded that conflicting case law in Florida provided no clear precedent to guide its determination of the attorney's fee issue, and certified the question arising out of the facts of this case as to awarding attorney's fees when an insured must litigate with its subrogated insurer over entitlement to settlement proceeds obtained from a responsible tortfeasor's insurer. (11th Cir.-4575).

By agreement of the parties, LEXOW is designated as the Appellant herein for the purpose of briefing the attorney's fee issue to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After a fire destroyed LEXOW's business in 1983, LEXOW's insurer, INA, initially paid LEXOW the sum of \$418,585.26, and eventually paid LEXOW the total amount of \$430,571.26 for losses suffered by LEXOW due to the fire. (R1-1-2; R2-64-2). INA obtained a subrogation receipt(s) for the payment(s). (R1-1-6). Suit was then filed jointly by INA and LEXOW in the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit in and for Marion County, Florida, against two tortfeasors responsible for the fire loss. (R2-64-2;

R1-13-21). One tortfeasor was insured by an insurance company that was placed into receivership, precluding INA from pursuing an insolvent insurer; however, LEXOW obtained \$99,900 from the insolvent insurer's receiver. (R2-64-3). Consequently, LEXOW collected the total sum of \$530,471.26 from INA and one tortfeasor for damages due to the fire.

During the pendency of the circuit court action the insurer for the other tortfeasor tendered the amount of \$100,000 to INA and LEXOW, with the money held in an interest bearing account by counsel for INA, pending agreement by the parties as to disbursement. (R2-64-3). INA and LEXOW could not agree upon who was entitled to the funds. (R1-13-32 through 34). attorney, therefore, requested and obtained a trial date in the proceeding to determine distribution of state court settlement proceeds. (R1-13-21). INA then filed a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice of its claims against the two tortfeasors on April 20, 1988, one day before the state court trial (R1-13-24), contending it had resolved its claims against the two tortfeasors. INA commenced its declaratory relief action in the district court on April 29, 1988, (R1-1-1 through 6). Despite INA's dismissal in the state court, it heard the matter on April 21, 1988, and awarded the settlement proceeds to LEXOW, reasoning that LEXOW had not been fully compensated for the fire loss INA was not entitled to exercise its right so (R1-13-24 through 26). INA filed a petition for certiorari and a notice of appeal with the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District of Florida, arguing, inter alia, that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction over INA. (R1-13-36 through 57; R1-13-58). The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction over INA, noting there was an action then pending in federal court to determine the entitlement to the settlement proceeds. CIGNA v. United Storage Systems, Inc., 537 So.2d 129 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

In the district court, INA contended that the subrogation receipt(s) signed by LEXOW entitled INA to receive the \$100,000 (R1-1-1 through 4; R2-47-1 through 3). LEXOW responded that INA was not entitled to the \$100,000 because LEXOW had not been fully compensated for the fire loss despite having received \$530,471.26. (R2-64-3).

In the district court's memorandum opinion on the merits the district court followed applicable Florida law, cited by the state court when it had awarded LEXOW the settlement proceeds, that a subrogated insurer is not entitled to reimbursement for payments made to its insured until its insured has been fully compensated for the loss. (R1-13-25; R2-64-6). The district court found that under any theory of damages, LEXOW had not been fully compensated for the fire loss although receiving \$530,471.26 partial compensation/reimbursement, as entitling LEXOW to the \$100,000. (R2-64-9).

Post-trial, LEXOW requested an award of attorney's fees as demanded by its counterclaim, (R2-66), pursuant to \$627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (1987), which reads in pertinent part:

Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor or any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary, a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

INA opposed an award of attorney's fees contending, <u>interallia</u>, that it had paid LEXOW full policy benefits, its dispute with LEXOW over the \$100,000 pertained to a matter outside its insurance contract with LEXOW, and the action was <u>in rem</u> against the \$100,000; accordingly, INA argued attorney's fees were not authorized under \$627.428(1). (R2-70).

The district court denied LEXOW attorney's fees, deciding that INA discharged its duties under its contract of insurance by paying LEXOW a substantial sum for the fire loss and specifically found that:

This litigation is not within the scope of \$627.428, because it is not an action for benefits and does not arise under the insurance policy or other contract between the parties. (R2-90-3).

The district court relied upon Forsyth v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 162 So.2d 916 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) to support its decision.

Also, the district court found alternatively that an award of attorney's fees would not be appropriate even if §627.428(1), otherwise applied because INA's dispute with LEXOW was over a type of claim which "could reasonably be expected to be resolved

by a court". (R2-90-4).

Before the Eleventh Circuit, LEXOW stated that case law, including Molyett v. Society National Life Insurance Co., 452 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), supported LEXOW's demand for attorney's fees. (LEXOW's Answer Brief). Although INA argued that the district court correctly applied the rule of Forsyth v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., supra, claiming Forsyth was supported by other case law from the First District Court of Appeal, INA concedes that an insured who prevails against its insurer is entitled to an award of attorney's fees under \$627.428(1) if the parties' dispute involves a denial of a material obligation by an insurer under its policy. (INA Answer Brief - 21, 25, 26).

The Eleventh Circuit indicated in its opinion that a literal reading of \$627.428(1) appeared to entitle LEXOW to an award of appellate attorney's fees, but the case law from the First District Court of Appeal and the Second District Court of Appeal was conflicting without such conflict having been resolved by this Court. (11th Cir.-4575). The Eleventh Circuit, therefore, certified its question to this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's public policy, underpinning §627.428(1), Fla. Stat., (1987), and in existence since 1893, mandates that a litigious insurer pay an insured's attorney's fees when an insured is forced to litigate in order to obtain an insurer's performance of a material obligation due the insured under its insurance contract or to protect the benefits received from an insurer's performance of its policy obligations.

INA's claimed right of subrogation arises by reason of having paid LEXOW under its insurance contract. Subrogation is an incident of a casualty insurance policy and precludes a double recovery by an insured collecting for the same damages from its insurer and a tortfeasor. Because an insurer is entitled only to reimbursement of the amount representing any excess recovery, an insurer's wrongful demand for subrogation contests the insured's policy right to full compensation and constitutes a denial of a material obligation of the policy. It is no less a denial of INA's obligation to pay policy limits by INA paying LEXOW and then seeking reimbursement from the tortfeasor's recovery because such reimbursement would effectively result in INA paying less than it must without LEXOW having been fully compensated by INA the tortfeasors. Consequently, the disputed issue here involves INA's policy obligation(s) to LEXOW and is not just a dispute over the settlement proceeds.

At least four Florida appellate cases involving subrogated insurers support an award of attorney's fees to LEXOW. Cases

relied upon by INA, where attorney's fees have been denied an insured involved in a dispute with a subrogated insurer, are completely distinguishable and do not involve a denial of a material policy obligation of the insurer.

The Florida legislature has authorized attorney's fees in subrogation type disputes involving PIP benefits, evidencing an intent that Florida's public policy in awarding attorney's fees to an insured applies to subrogation disputes. No Florida statute prohibits a fee award under the facts of LEXOW's case, although the Florida legislature has placed limitations on attorney's fees awards in other insurance contexts.

INA precipitated the litigation with LEXOW and its conduct amounted to a denial of LEXOW's rights under the policy to be fully compensated, or at least have INA bear the burden of paying full policy limits, unless LEXOW had received a windfall by collecting full damages from the tortfeasors. INA unsuccessfully, and wrongfully, challenged LEXOW's entitlement to the settlement proceeds, and now should pay LEXOW's attorney's fees in order for LEXOW to retain the full benefit of its policy rights and the tortfeasor's recovery.

ARGUMENT

UPON SUCCESSFULLY DEFENDING LITIGATION BROUGHT BY ITS SUBROGATED INSURER OVER ENTITLEMENT TO PAYABLE TO THE INSURED THE PROCEEDS ON BEHALF A TORTFEASOR RESPONSIBLE FOR A FIRE LOSS, NOT BEEN FULLY COMPENSATED INSURED, WHO HAS FIRE LOSS BY ITS PAYING POLICY INSURER RECEIPT OF RECOVERY AGAINST BENEFITS AND THE THE TORTFEASOR, SHOULD RECOVER ATTORNEY'S FEES §627.428(1) FLA. STAT., BECAUSE INSURER'S ACTION CONTESTED ITS POLICY OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY ITS INSURED AND BEAR THE LOSS UNTIL ITS INSURED HAS BEEN MADE WHOLE.

Since 1893, Florida's public policy, embodied in various attorney's fees statutes, has authorized an "insured" who obtains a judgment against its insurer to recover attorney's fees. 1

The attorney's fees statute(s) is a vital part of the public policy of Florida to discourage contesting insurers' obligations to their insureds in the state and federal courts of Florida. Feller v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 57 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1952); Campbell v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 306 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1974). The attorney's fees statute(s) protects insureds from unwarranted litigation (including arbitration) precipitated by an insurer's denial of a material obligation due its insured, in derogation of

\$4263, Rev. Gen. Stat. (1920); \$627.0127, Fla. Stat. (1959);

§627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (1971).

^{1.} See for example:

an insured's policy rights. <u>Fewox v. McMerit Construction</u>

<u>Co.</u>, 556 So.2d 419, 424 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>Leaf v. State Farm</u>

<u>Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.</u>, 544 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

It is undue hardship upon beneficiaries of policies to be compelled to reduce the amount of their insurance by paying attorney's fees when suits are necessary in order to collect that to which they are entitled. Feller at 586.

The attorney's fees statute's salutary purpose has never been more poignantly demonstrated than recently, when this Court affirmed an attorney's fee award of \$253,500 to the insured's attorney, after the insurer decided "to go to the mat", as the Fourth District Court of Appeal said, over payment of a \$600 medical bill for thermographic examination. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Palma, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990).

must only meet the conditions imposed by the statute. <u>Travelers Insurance Co. v. Rodriguez</u>, 387 So.2d 341, 343 (Fla. 1980). Florida courts, particularly this Court, reject a narrow or rigid application of \$627.428 and its precursors, and seek to apply the statute and its underlying public policy to the facts of a particular case to carry out the legislative intent of protecting insureds. In <u>Feller v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court had the opportunity to construe the attorney's fees statute so that it was only applicable to insurance contracts issued inside Florida. The <u>Feller Court disapproved</u> such a narrow reading and held that the attorney's

fees statute applied to contracts, made outside Florida but the subject of litigation within Florida, after an insured relocated to Florida. Likewise, a literal reading of the attorney's fees statute which leads to the conclusion that a prevailing insured who does not institute litigation is precluded from recovering attorney's fees has been rejected. Florida Rock and Tank Lines, Inc. v. Continential Insurance Company, 399 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Recently this Court adopted the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal that an insurer who pays an arbitration award cannot escape liability for attorney's fees under \$627.428 by settling the matter before entry of judgment. Insurance Company of North America v. Acousti Engineering Company of Florida, 579 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1991). Furthermore, this Court has refused to engraft a condition onto the attorney's fees statute for an insurer's "good faith", holding that an insured obtaining a judgment against its insurer becomes entitled to attorney's fees irrespective of the "good faith" of the insurer. Travelers Insurance Company v. Rodriguez, supra.

The Eleventh Circuit has inquired whether the statutory phrase "under a policy or contract" encompasses the district court litigation for the purpose of awarding attorney's fees under §627.428(1). The district court denied LEXOW an award of attorney's fees by concluding LEXOW had to obtain a judgment under a policy or contract of insurance, which the district court said did not happen. The statutory phrase "under a policy or contract" does not modify, nor refer to, the word "judgment" as used in the statute, but limits the class of persons entitled

under the statute to an award of attorney's fees. See, Industrial Fire and Casualty Insurance Co. v. Prygocki, 422 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1982) for a discussion clarifying that the individuals within the defined statutory class, "named insureds or named beneficiaries under a policy or contract", excludes others who have litigated the issue of insurance coverage on their own behalf, such as "third-party beneficiaries". Thus, attorney's fees awardable under \$627.428 upon recovery of a judgment against an insurer can only be recovered by the statutorily-defined class. Here, it is undisputed that LEXOW was a named insured and recovered judgment against INA.

district submits that the court litigation effectively contested INA's obligation to indemnify LEXOW and LEXOW prevailed, thereby entitling it to attorney's fees. Insurance is a contract to indemnify or pay a specific sum upon \$624.02, Fla. Stat. (1991).determinable contingencies. Nonvalued insurance is purchased to provide true restitution for the loss suffered. DeCespedes v. Prudence Mutual Casualty Co., 193 So.2d 224 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). Issuance of its policy and acceptance of the premium(s) obligated INA to indemnify LEXOW and provide restitution for the fire loss. Moreover, by INA claiming the \$100,000 before LEXOW received total restitution, such action not only effectively contested the amount INA had to bear as the ultimate loss in order to indemnify LEXOW, but leaves LEXOW in the position of being precluded from full restitution through recovery from the tortfeasors. It is a distinction without a difference between INA paying less than policy

in the first instance or paying policy limits, then obtaining a set-off against the amount paid by subrogating against the responsible tortfeasor before LEXOW obtains complete restitution. The later situation constitutes INA's attempt at a partial rescission of performance of its policy obligations to LEXOW. Either situation contests INA'S policy obligation to pay policy benefits as compensation for LEXOW's loss and LEXOW's right to indemnity.

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