De 7 W/app

SID J. WHITE OCT 22 1991 CLERK, SURREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLAUSSON P. LEXOW and UNITED STORAGE SYSTEMS, INC., d/b/a THE EXTRA CLOSET OF OCALA, LTD.,

appellee \_\_\_\_\_

vs,

INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA,

Appellant .

## APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

CERTIFIED QUESTION ELEVENTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 90-3331

> CHARLES M. JOHNSTON, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 264741 ADA A. HAMMOND, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 318302 Attorneys for Appellee TAYLOR, DAY & RIO 10 South Newnan Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-0700

CASE NO. 78,376

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Statutes §627.428 is in derogation of the "American rule" that attorney's fees are generally not recoverable and, hence, must be strictly construed. This statute consistently has been interpreted by this Court as authorizing the recovery of attorney's fees only when the insured prevails in a dispute involving the rights and obligations of the parties under a policy or contract of insurance. The district court correctly followed the clear language of the statute and the weight of Florida authority in denying Lexow's motion for attorney's fees because the dispute between INA and Lexow as to entitlement to the fund recovered from the third party tortfeasor was not a dispute under the insurance policy issued by INA to Lexow and did not involve INA's policy obligations to Lexow. Indeed, at the time of the dispute over entitlement to the subrogated fund, INA had already paid its full policy limits to Lexow and INA's obligations to Lexow under the insurance policy had therefore come to an end. The

dispute between INA and Lexow arose from the subrogation action against the tortfeasor.

INA's subrogation rights against the tortfeasor arose from the common law of subrogation, and were not created by the insurance policy or any contract between INA and Lexow. Contrary to Lexow's central argument, INA did not have a policy obligation to indemnify Lexow and bear the loss until Lexow had been made whole, and Lexow has not pointed to any policy language that would make this so. The only obligation INA had was to pay for those losses that were covered by the policy, up to the amount of policy limits, and this obligation was met by INA in this case. In making his central argument, Lexow is confusing insurance policy obligations with a principle of common law subrogation that precludes the subrogor's recovery from the wrongdoer, until the subrogee has been made This principle of common law subrogation was interpreted whole. and applied by the district court in the declaratory judgment action in this case and resulted in the award of the subrogated fund to Lexow. Hence, the award to Lexow of the subrogated fund was not as the result of any breach of a policy obligation that INA had to Lexow, but rather was based upon application of common law principles of subrogation. As such, the district court correctly held that Lexow was not entitled to attorney's fees under §627.428 because the dispute between the parties had not involved their respective rights under the policy or contract of insurance. INA bore the burden of paying full policy limits and its seeking of reimbursement from the tortfeasor pursuant to its subrogation

rights did not affect or reduce the insurance payment made to Lexow or involve INA's policy obligations to Lexow.

Contrary to Lexow's argument, only one appellate case involving subrogated insurers can be said to support an award of attorney's fees to Lexow, and that case clearly did not analyze the provisions of Florida Statutes §627.428 requiring that the dispute be under a policy or contract of insurance. The cases involving subrogated insurers relied upon by INA do not support an award of attorney's fees to Lexow in this case, and as found by the district court, are the better reasoned cases on this issue. Lexow mistakenly relies upon cases involving the Florida PIP statute in support of his argument that he is entitled to attorney's fees in this case. However, the PIP cases are not relevant to this dispute because the PIP statute authorized reimbursement from the insured of PIP benefits previously paid by the insurer and the PIP statute specifically made Florida Statute §627.428 applicable to the PIP There is no similar Florida Statute making §627.428 dispute. applicable to disputes over subrogated funds such as that involved here.

Alternatively, the district court correctly held under Florida law that even if it had construed this action as one under an insurance contract or policy, an award of attorney's fees would not be appropriate because INA did not wrongfully withhold the settlement fund obtained from the tortfeasor. Under Florida law, an insurance company does not wrongfully withhold benefits, for purposes of an award of attorney's fees, if the dispute is over a

type of claim which reasonably could be expected to be resolved by a court rather than by the insurance company itself. The district court correctly found that INA reasonably filed the declaratory judgment action to resolve the underlying questions as to the amount of Lexow's loss and the legal effect of the subrogation receipt. As noted by the district court, Florida law had been murky with respect to Lexow's claim for lost future profits. Moreover, as held by the district court, the subrogation issue was not so clear that INA acted wrongfully in litigating it. The Florida case which existed on the issue was distinguishable on its facts and, therefore, its application to the dispute between INA and Lexow was not clear.

#### ARGUMENT

Lexow is not entitled to attorney's fees because the dispute between INA and Lexow as to entitlement to the third party tortfeasor's payment was not "under a policy or contract" of insurance, as that phrase is used in Florida Statutes §627.428(1).

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has asked this Court to determine whether the dispute between INA and Lexow as to entitlement to the third party tortfeasor's payment was a dispute "under a policy or contract" of insurance, as that phrase is used in Florida Statutes §627.428(1). Since this Court is being asked to construe a Florida Statute, the rules of statutory construction are important, particularly those pertaining to the construction of statutes providing for attorney's fees. As noted by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the fundamental rule in Florida is that an award of attorney's fees is in derogation of the "American Rule" that attorney's fees are generally not recoverable and, hence, statutes allowing for the award of such fees should be strictly Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d construed. 1145 (Fla. 1985); Sunbeam Enters., Inc. v. Upthegrove, 316 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1975); Roberts v. Carter, 350 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1977).

The Florida courts have consistently applied this rule of strict construction to Florida Statute §627.428. <u>Lumberman's</u> <u>Mutual Insurance Co. v. American Arbitration Assoc.</u>, 398 So.2d 469 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Chisholm</u>, 384 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); <u>Sheridan v. Greenberg</u>, 391 So.2d 234 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); <u>Travelers Indemnity Co. of American v. Morris</u>, 390

So.2d 464 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); <u>Argonaut Insurance Co. v. Maryland</u> <u>Casualty Co.</u>, 372 So.2d 960 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979); <u>Hartford Accident</u> <u>and Indemnity Co. v. Smith</u>, 366 So.2d 456 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978); <u>American Home Assurance Co. v. Keller Industries, Inc.</u>, 347 So.2d 767 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977); <u>Time Insurance Co. v. Arnold</u>, 319 So.2d 638 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); <u>American Bankers Insurance Co. of Florida</u> <u>v. Benson</u>, 254 So.2d 851 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971); <u>American National</u> <u>Insurance Co. v. de Cardenas</u>, 181 So.2d 359 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966).

Not all disputes between an insured and insurer are subject to the provisions of §627.428. Construing the statute pursuant to its clear and unambiguous provisions, unless a judgment is rendered in favor of an insured under a policy or contract of insurance, §627.428 is inapplicable. This has been acknowledged by this Court in <u>The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States v.</u> <u>Nichols</u>, 84 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1956), wherein this Court stated that the predecessor to this statute consistently has been interpreted by this Court as authorizing the recovery of attorney's fees from the insurer only when the insurer has wrongfully withheld payment of the proceeds of the policy. Likewise, in <u>Wilder v. Wright</u>, 278 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), this Court quoted the appellate court with approval stating:

> The purpose of the statute is to discourage contesting of valid claims of insureds against insurance companies ... and to reimburse successful insureds reasonably for their outlays for attorney's fees when they are compelled to defend or to sue to enforce their contracts ...

Id. at page 3. To the same effect is <u>Feller v. Equitable Life</u> <u>Insurance Society of the United States</u>, 57 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1952),

wherein this Court stated that the predecessor to §627.428 had as its purpose the reimbursement of insureds when they are compelled to sue to enforce their insurance contracts. This has been recognized by Florida's district courts of appeal, which have consistently held that the purpose of the attorney's fee statute is to reimburse the insured's attorney's fees incurred in disputes involving the rights and obligations of the parties under a contract of insurance. <u>Florida Rock and Tank Lines, Inc. v.</u> <u>Continental Insurance Co.</u>, 399 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); <u>Fewox</u> <u>v. McMerit Construction Co.</u>, 556 So.2d 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

This Court's decision in Industrial Fire and Casualty Insurance Co. v. Prygrocki, 422 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1982), is not to the contrary. Lexow argues that this Court intended that decision to hold that §627.428 is applicable in all cases where an insured receives a judgment against his insurer, regardless of whether or not the underlying suit was under the contract of insurance between the parties. However, Industrial Fire and Casualty Insurance Co. v. Prygrocki did not construe the provisions of §627.428 which require that the dispute be one under a policy or contract of insurance. Instead, Prygrocki dealt solely with the issue of the class of persons whom §627.428 is intended to benefit. The only issue resolved by Prygrocki was whether a pedestrian, who was not the named or contracting insured or part of the insured's household, but who was an "insured" under the provisions of the personal injury protection coverage of an automobile policy, could claim attorney's fees under §627.428. This case did not deal with

whether the dispute had to involve the contract of insurance for purposes of application of the statute. This latter issue, which is the issue before this Court, was the issue addressed by this Court in <u>Wilder v. Wright</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Equitable Life Assurance Society</u> of the United States v. Nichols, <u>supra</u>; and <u>Feller v. Equitable</u> <u>Life Assurance Society of the United States</u>, <u>supra</u>. Accordingly, this Court's decision in <u>Prygrocki</u> is not relevant to the issue to be decided in this case, and for this reason, Lexow's argument that <u>Prygrocki</u> stands for the proposition that the statutory phrase "under a policy or contract" does not modify, or refer to, the word "judgment" as used in the statute, is without merit.

The district court specifically found that Lexow did not prevail in the declaratory judgment action under a policy or contract of insurance and, therefore, correctly denied Lexow's claim for attorney's fees. (R2-90-3) The purpose of the declaratory judgment action was to resolve the dispute between INA and Lexow as to which party was entitled to the fund which had been recovered by INA and Lexow from the third party tortfeasor who caused the fire loss for which INA paid its policy limits. This dispute was not one involving the insurance policy issued by INA to Lexow and did not involve INA's policy obligations to Lexow. Rather, the dispute arose from the subrogation action against the tortfeasor.

The crux of Lexow's argument on this appeal is that INA's claim to the tortfeasor's payment obtained in the subrogation action contested INA's policy obligation to indemnify Lexow and

bear the loss until Lexow had been made whole. This argument, however, is without merit. The short answer to Lexow's argument is "What policy obligation?" Contrary to Lexow's argument, the only obligation INA had was to pay for those losses that were covered by the policy, up to the amount of policy limits. DeCespedes v. Prudence Mutual Casualty Co., 193 So.2d 224, 226 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967). There is no dispute on this appeal that INA paid its full policy limits to Lexow after the fire, without the need for litigation in regard to that payment. Had INA contested its policy obligations to Lexow to pay policy limits for the fire loss, Lexow would have been entitled to attorney's fees under §627.428 in regard to that dispute. Lexow recognizes this at page 24 of his initial brief before this Court. However, there was no dispute in regard to INA's payment to Lexow of policy limits and once INA paid its policy limits to Lexow, its obligations to Lexow under the insurance policy were at an end. See, Hoffman v. White, 277 So.2d 290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) (payment in good faith in accordance with the provisions of the insurance policy discharges the insurer from further liability under the policy unless the insurer is on notice of an objection to the payment by the insured or policy beneficiary).

An insurer has no obligation under a first party insurance policy, such as the fire insurance policy pursuant to which INA paid Lexow, to proceed against the tortfeasor who caused the loss for purposes of obtaining for the insured proceeds over and above the policy limits which were paid to the insured. <u>Holyoke Mutual</u>

Insurance Co. v. Concrete Equipment, Inc., 394 So.2d 193 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). The insurer does have a right of subrogation against the tortfeasor which it may exercise, in its discretion, for Holyoke Mutual Insurance Co. v. purposes of its own benefit. Concrete Equipment Co., Inc.. However, no fiduciary duty arises under the policy as between insurer and insured to see to it that the insured is made whole where the relationship was pursuant to a <u>See, Kujawa v. Manhattan</u> first party contract of insurance. National Life Insurance Co., 541 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 1989); Baxter v. Royal Indemnity Co., 317 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1975). Accordingly, once insurance policy benefits have been paid, if the insurer decides to proceed against the tortfeasor pursuant to its subrogation rights, and a recovery is had against the tortfeasor, any contest between the insurer and the insured as to which party is entitled to the fund of money recovered from the tortfeasor is not one which arises under the policy because it involves no duties or obligations to the insured under the policy and no fiduciary obligation by the insurer to the insured exists. It is a dispute that is outside of the insurance contract and, hence, §627.428 has no application.

Because Lexow recognizes that §627.428 is only applicable to disputes between an insured and insurer involving the insurance contract between them, Lexow has advanced the argument that the parties' contest over the subrogated fund somehow is a breach of INA's policy obligation to Lexow. Lexow has not, however, pointed to any policy language which makes this so. Indeed, the policy of insurance issued by INA to Lexow is not a part of the record on

this appeal and this is because it has never been disputed by the parties that full policy limits were paid by INA to Lexow at the outset, following the fire loss. The issues involved in the declaratory judgment action before the district court and on this appeal have never related to INA's obligations under the insurance policy it issued to Lexow, but rather, have involved the respective rights of the parties as a result of the subrogation action which they prosecuted against the tortfeasor.

In this regard, it is important to examine the nature of the subrogation action which underlies the parties' dispute. As indicated in the statement of facts, at the time that INA paid its full policy limits to Lexow, Lexow executed a subrogation receipt. In its memorandum opinion on the question of whether INA or Lexow was entitled to the subrogated fund, the district court held that the subrogation receipt was neither a separate contract nor part of the insurance policy, but rather, was merely an acknowledgment of INA's common law right of subrogation against the tortfeasor who was responsible for the fire. (R2-64-6; R2-90-1,3) This Court has held that the doctrine of subrogation is based upon the principles of natural justice and was created to afford relief where one is required to pay a legal obligation which ought to have been met, either wholly or partially, by another. Trueman Fertilizer Co. v. Allison, 81 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1955). The doctrine is based on the policy that the tortfeasor should not be unjustly enriched merely because the loss which he has caused has been paid by insurance and that the tortfeasor should be ultimately liable to the one paying

the loss. <u>West American Insurance Co. v. Yellow Cab Co. of</u> <u>Orlando, Inc.</u>, 495 So.2d 204 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

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